A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington seeks asks this Court to accept review of 

the unpublished decision in Part B of this Petition. 

B. DECISION 

Petitioner State of Washington seeks review of the Court of 

Appeals, Division I's unpublished decision filed on July 7, 2014 (Motion 

to Reconsider denied on October 8, 2014), reversing the conviction in 

Count 7 and dismissing the charge without prejudice. A copy of the 

opinion of the Court of Appeals is attached. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED 

I. IS IT AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF CHILD 
MOLESTATION IN THE SECOND DEGREE THAT 
THE VICTIM IS NOT ONLY LESS THAN FOURTEEN 
YEARS OLD BUT AT LEAST TWELVE YEARS OLD? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Gensitskiy was charged with numerous crimes against D.S.G 

(female) 1 and C.S.G, two of his children. CP 13-18. Gensitskiy was 

convicted ofvarious acts of child molestation against C.S.G., as well as 

1 The record refers to two different children with the initials D.S.G.; one female and one 
male. 
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three counts of incest and one count of child molestation against D.S.G. 

(female). CP 80-99. 

The Second Amended Information, on which Gensitskiy was tried, 

alleged in Count 7 that Gensitskiy had sexual contact with D.S.G. 

(female), who was less than fourteen years old and not married to the 

defendant, and the defendant was at least thirty-six months older than the 

victim. CP 16. 

For the first time on appeal, Gensitskiy claimed that the 

information charging him with child molestation in the second degree 

under Count 7 is constitutionally deficient because it states that the victim 

was under the age of fourteen at the time ofthe offense (without also 

stating that the victim was over the age of twelve). He claimed that the 

child being over the age of twelve is an essential element of child 

molestation in the second degree. He cited no authority for this claim. The 

Court of Appeals, Division I, agreed with Gensitskiy and found that the 

child being over the age of twelve is an essential element of child 

molestation in the second degree. The Court reversed Gensitskiy's 

conviction under Count 7 and dismissed the charge without prejudice. 

The State seeks review of that part of the Opinion ofthe Court of 

Appeals that reversed Gensitskiy's conviction under Count 7 and 

dismissed the charge without prejudice. 

2 



.. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

RAP 13.4 (b) provides the considerations governing acceptance of 

review. Review may be granted where: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of 
the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; 
or 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

In this petition, the State asserts that review is appropriate under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), and (4). 

Gensitskiy complained about the sufficiency ofthe information for 

the first time on appeal. The information must therefore be construed 

liberally, and "the defendant may prevail only if he can show that the 

unartful charging language actually prejudiced him." State v. Nonong, 169 

Wn.2d 220, 227, 237 P.3d 250 (2010). 

The crime of child molestation, like the crime of rape of a child, is 

one crime broken into three degrees. It "proscribes but one offense." c.f 

State v. Smith, 122 Wn.App. 294, 93 P.3d 206 (2004). In Smith, the 

defendant was charged with rape of a child in the third degree, but the jury 
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was instructed that it could convict the defendant if it found he had sexual 

intercourse with a minor who was under the age of 16. Smith at 298. The 

evidence established that Smith's victim was 13 at the time of intercourse. 

Smith argued on appeal that the State was relieved of its burden of proving 

an essential element of the case, to wit: that the victim was at least 

fourteen years of age. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, 

holding that the State having proved a greater crime does not translate into 

it not having proved the lesser and inferior degree crime with which the 

defendant was charged. Smith at 298-99, citing State v. Dodd, 53 Wn.App. 

178, 181, 765 P.2d 1337 (1989), and State v. Foster, 91 Wn.2d 466, 471-

72, 589 P. 2d 789 (1979). 

An essential element is "one whose specification is necessary to 

establish the very illegality of the behavior." State v. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d 

219, 221, 118 P.3d 885 (2005) citing State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 143, 

14 7, 829 P .2d 1 078 ( 1992). In this case, sexual contact with a child under 

the age of fourteen, provided the perpetrator is sufficiently older than the 

victim, is the illegal act. The age of the victim determines the severity of 

the crime (under age twelve, age twelve to fourteen, age fourteen to 

sixteen), but not the illegality of the behavior. 

Gensitskiy, citing no case in support of this assignment of error, 

contends that the crime of child molestation in the second degree contains 

4 
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a floor and a ceiling-that not only must the victim be under the age of 

fourteen, she must also be at least twelve years old. The Court of Appeals, 

also citing no case in support of this novel interpretation ofthe law, 

agreed. 

The Court's opinion stands contrary not only to the cases cited by 

the State above, which were neither discussed nor even mentioned in the 

opinion, but to the opinion of the Court of Appeals in State v. Leyda, 122 

Wn.App. 633, 94 P.3d 397 (2004), as well as the Supreme Court opinions 

in State v. Leyda, 157 Wn.2d 335, 138 P.3d 610 (2006), and State v. Ward, 

148 Wn.2d 803, 64 P.3d 640 (2003), infra. The State cited apposite 

authority which held that the gravamen of the offenses of child 

molestation and rape of child is that the victim fall under a certain age (in 

this case, fourteen). In Smith, supra, in which the defendant was convicted 

of third degree rape of a child, the defendant argued that the to-convict 

instruction misstated the law because it told the jury that a person was 

guilty of rape of a child in the third degree if the perpetrator had 

intercourse with a person who is "at least twelve years old but less than 

sixteen years." The defendant argued that because the victim was thirteen 

years old when he raped her, the instruction relieved the State of its burden 

of proving that the victim was at least fourteen years old, as proscribed by 

the statute. In other words, the defendant complained that he was charged 
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with rape of a child in the third degree when the State actually proved that 

he committed rape of a child in the second degree, a far more serious 

offense. To make this argument, the defendant asserted that the victim 

being at least fourteen years of age was an essential element of rape of a 

child in the third degree. 

The Court of Appeals rejected his argument: 

But, as amended, the definitional instruction and the 
unchallenged elements instructions did not relieve the State 
of its burden of proving all essential elements of the crime 
of rape of a child. K.C.'s testimony, if found credible by the 
jury, established that Smith committed the crime of rape of 
a child, and that, in at least two instances, he committed 
second degree rape of a child rather than third degree rape 
of a child. The fact that the victim was younger than the 
age range in the third degree rape of a child statute does 
not mean that the defendant did not commit the proscribed 
act of having sexual intercourse with a child. See State v. 
Dodd, 53 Wn.App. 178, 181, 765 P.2d 1337 (1989) 

In Dodd, a jury convicted the defendant of third degree 
statutory rape even though the victim was actually 13 years 
old. 53 Wn.App. at 179-80, 765 P.2d 1337. The defendant 
argued that he reasonably believed that the victim was 
between 14 and 16 years of age. Dodd, 53 Wn.App. at 179-
80, 765 P.2d 1337. The Dodd court noted that the act was 
still an illegal act whether the victim was 13 or 14 and that 
defendant's reasonable mistake as to the victim's age was 
not a defense, so long as the defendant believed the victim 
was less than 16 at the time the crime was committed. 53 
Wn.App. at 181, 765 P.2d 1337. 1 We agree with Dodd that 
"third degree statutory rape is a crime of inferior degree to 
second degree statutory rape, as each proscribes but one 
offense, that of sexual intercourse with one too immature to 
rationally or legally consent to the act." 53 Wn.App. at 181, 
765 P.2d 1337. The evidence established that K.C. was 13 
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years old at the time of the June 2000 acts and that Smith 
committed the proscribed offense, that 1s, sexual 
intercourse with a minor under 16 years of age. 

Here, the State charged Smith with a lesser offense than 
that proved by the evidence. While it may well have been 
precluded from amending the information and have been 
bound to continue with the lesser charge filed, it does not 
follow that proof of the greater charge requires acquittal of 
the lesser. To the contrary, proof of a greater necessarily 
establishes proof of all lesser included offenses. Likewise, a 
defendant may be convicted of an offense that is an inferior 
degree to the one charged, provided that the statutes, as 
here, proscribe but one offense. 

Smith, 122 Wn.App. at 298-99 (emphasis added). 

In essential elements parlance, "the very illegality of the behavior" 

for purposes of child molestatiof! in the second degree is sexual contact 

with a person who is under the age of fourteen, not sexual contact with a 

person who is under the age of fourteen but at least twelve years old. 

Under the construction of the statute adopted by the Court of Appeals, 

child molestation in the second degree is no longer a lesser included 

offense of child molestation in the first degree. Under the construction of 

the statute adopted by the Court of Appeals, if the State proves beyond a 

reasonable doubt that a child was molested when she was under the age of 

fourteen, but cannot prove whether she was eleven or twelve because the 

victim simply cannot remember that minor (from her point of view) detail, 
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then no crime has been committed. None. This is an absurdity the 

legislature cannot possibly have contemplated. 

Moreover, under the construction adopted by the Court of Appeals, 

theft in the second degree could no longer be proven where the State 

proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant stole property or 

services in the amount of $6,000. Applying the reasoning adopted in this 

case, the Court of Appeals would hold that the State must allege the higher 

crime (theft first degree) or no crime at all. This is so, according to the 

Court, because a charging document charging theft in the second degree 

must include the new essential element the property or services did not 

exceed five thousand dollars in value. 

As noted above, Gensitskiy cited no authority for his assertion that 

"at least twelve years old" is an essential element of child molestation in 

the second degree. After citing incomplete boilerplate case law on the 

essential elements rule, the following comprises his sole treatment of this 

Issue: 

The State claimed to be charging child molestation in the 
second degree. Yet it failed to include the essential 
statutory element that the victim was "at least twelve years 
old." RCW 9A.44.086(1). There is no conceivable form or 
fair construction by which this element can be found in 
Count 7. The charging period, in fact, ended before 
D.S.G.'s (female) twelfth birthday. The language ofCount 
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7 was constitutionally deficient to charge a crime. That 
count must be dismissed. 

See Brief of Appellant at 44. 

In other words, Gensitskiy claimed and the Court of Appeals 

agreed, without any citation to authority, that it is a settled proposition that 

"at least twelve years old" is an essential element of child molestation in 

the first degree. This is so, Gensitskiy and the Court claim, because the 

words "at least twelve years old" appear in the statute. 

But this anemic argument has been rejected several times by this 

Court as well as the Court of Appeals. In State v. Ward, 148 Wn.2d 803, 

64 P.3d 640 (2003), this Court addressed the question of whether, in 

charging and proving felony violation of a no contact order, the State must 

plead and prove that the assault which gave rise to the charge did not 

amount to an assault in the first or second degree. The appellant contended 

that because the statute said that any assault that is a violation of a no 

contact order "that does not amount to assault in the first or second degree 

is a class C felony," that the assault not amounting to first or second 

degree was an essential element which the State must plead and prove. 

This Court rejected this argument: 

We reiterate that the statutory scheme provides that "[a]ll 
assault convictions connected to violation of a no-contact 
order will result in a felony, either through the assault itself 
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or through the application of subsection (b) [of RCW 
10.99.040(4)]." State v. Azpitarte, 140 Wn.2d 138, 142, 995 
p .2d 31 (2000). 

If we were to interpret the statutory language as requiring 
the State to disprove assault in the first or second degree as 
an essential element of felony violation of a no-contact 
order, the defendant would be placed in the awkward 
position of arguing that his conduct amounts to a higher 
degree of assault than what the State has charged. Such an 
interpretation does not advance the legislature's purpose of 
assuring victims of domestic violence maximum protection 
from abuse (RCW 10.99.010), nor does it support the 
statute's intent to penalize assaultive violations of no­
contact orders more severely than non-assaultive violations 
(former RCW 10.99.040(4)(b) and 10.99.050(2)). 

Ward at 812-13. 

This Court was unpersuaded that the mere presence of the passage 

"that does not amount to assault in the first or second degree" in the statute 

meant that it was an essential element on which the very illegality of the 

act rests. 

Similarly, in the theft context, the Court of Appeals held, in State 

v. Leyda, that value is not an element of identity theft in the second degree 

or theft in the third degree: 

The references to value in each of these statutes establishes 
a ceiling above which the offense is elevated to a higher 
degree, not a floor that must exist to support the charge or 
conviction. Thus, value is not an essential element of either 
second degree identity theft or third degree theft, and need 
not be alleged in the charging document or included in jury 
instructions to convict a defendant of the crimes. 

10 



State v. Leyda, 122 Wn.App. 633, 639-40, 94 P.3d 397 (2004) (emphasis 

added). This Court affirmed this portion of the decision in Leyda, citing to 

its recent decision in State v. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d 219, 118 P.3d 885 (2005): 

We recently addressed this issue insofar as it related to a 
charge of third degree theft. In State v. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d 
219, 222, 118 P.3d 885 (2005), we held that value is not an 
essential element of third degree theft, reasoning that value 
is only an essential element of the first and second degree 
theft statutes because these charging statutes explicitly state 
a "minimum value threshold." We are not inclined to depart 
from the holding we reached in that case and affirm 
Leyda's third degree theft convictions. 

State v. Leyda, 157 Wn.2d 335, 341, 138 P.3d 610 (2006). 

The reasoning employed by the Court of Appeals in this case, 

transferred to the theft context, would hold that if a prosecutor charges 

someone with theft in the second degree, but proves at trial that the actual 

value of the property or services stolen was $6,000 (rather than an amount 

not exceeding $5,000), the evidence supporting the conviction for theft in 

the second degree would be insufficient as a matter of law. This was 

precisely the argument rejected by the Supreme Court in Leyda and 

Tinker. 

As is so often the situation in cases of sexual abuse of children, the 

victim often cannot recall exactly how old he/she was when he/she was 

raped or molested. The children must therefore use reference points. The 

following hypothetical illustrates how these facts often play out at trial: 
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Prosecutor: Do you remember how old you were when 
your uncle did these things? 

Victim: No. 

Prosecutor: Can you remember where you were living 
when it happened? 

Victim: I was living in the green house on 
Mockingbird Lane. 

Prosecutor: Do you remember what grade you were in 
when you were living in the green house on 
Mockingbird Lane? 

Victim: Fifth or sixth grade. 

The prosecutor then calls the victim's mother to testify: 

Prosecutor: Do you remember how old Jane Doe was 
when you were living in the green house on 
Mockingbird Lane? 

Mother: We moved there when she was eleven and 
moved out when she was twelve. 

Prosecutor: Do you remember what grade she was in 
when you lived there? 

Mother: Fifth and sixth. 

Prosecutor: Was there a specific time period when her 
uncle would visit you all at that house? 

Mother: He came to visit every single weekend we 
lived there. 

Prosecutor: Is it possible that Jane Doe was older than 
twelve when you lived there? 

12 
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Mother: No, we moved out right after she finished 
sixth grade. We lived in a different house 
when she started middle school. She was 
twelve when we moved. 

Thus, as the above hypothetical illustrates, it is often the case that 

the State can prove a victim was under a particular age (such as 14) when 

the abuse occurred, but cannot prove that she was over a particular age. 

Under the Court of Appeals' holding in this case, the State must either 

plead and prove first degree child molestation with the child being under 

the age of twelve (which, under the above hypothetical, the State could not 

prove), or plead and prove second degree child molestation with the added 

element that the victim was at least twelve years old (which, under the 

above hypothetical, the State also could not prove). Under the Court's 

reasoning, there would be no crime at all where the State cannot prove one 

or the other (age eleven or twelve), even though the State unquestionably 

proved the victim was under the age of fourteen. 

There is no authority to support the Court of Appeals' holding in 

this case. Indeed, no authority is cited by Gensitskiy or by the Court for 

this novel holding. The Court of Appeals held, for the first time in 

Washington, that the State must plead and prove that a child was at least 

twelve years of age in a prosecution for child molestation (or child rape) in 

the second degree, and must plead and prove that a child was at least 
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fourteen years of age in a prosecution for child molestation (or child rape) 

in the third degree. The Court effectively held, for the first time in 

Washington, that child molestation in the second degree is not a lesser 

included offense of child molestation in the first degree, and that child 

molestation in the third degree in not a lesser included offense of child 

rape in the second degree. 2 The Court of Appeals made these holdings 

with almost no analysis and no citation to authority beyond the plain 

language of the statute. 

This Court should accept review of the decision holding that it is 

an essential element of child molestation in the second degree that the 

victim was "at least twelve years of age" at the time of the offense, and 

should reverse the holding of the Court of Appeals on this issue. 

Review in this case is warranted under RAP 13.4(1) and (2) 

because the decision is in conflict with another decision of the Supreme 

Court and the Court of Appeals; under RAP 13.4(3) because it involves a 

significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of 

Washington and the United States Constitution; and under RAP 13.4(4) 

because it involves an issue of substantial public interest which should be 

reviewed by the Supreme Court. 

2 The same would be true for rape of a child. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

The State respectfully asks this Court to accept review of the 

decision of the Court of Appeals reversing and dismissing Count 7 with 

prejudice.