Received Washington State Supreme Court

DEC U 3 2014 E CRF Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk NO. 90995-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

SERGEY GENSITSKIY,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable John P. Wulle, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW WITH ADDITIONAL ISSUES FOR REVIEW

LENELL NUSSBAUM 2003 Western Ave., Suite 330 Seattle, Washington 98121 206/728-0996

Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Petitioner

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

A memory expert testified that false memories frequently are created by one person saying, "This happened to me, did it happen to you too?" Or, even more strongly, "I think this happened to you." Positive feedback from others, hearing "that happened to me, too," makes false memories

² Count 7 was reversed and dismissed without prejudice; the remaining counts were dismissed with prejudice. Slip Op. at 14.

³ The State did not file charges involving Sam, Svetlana, Zhanna, or Jennifer. CP 1-6, 13-18.

stronger, clearer, more detailed, and completely inseparable from real memories. RP 959-65.

The other Gensitskiy daughters denied any sexual abuse occurred in their home to them or their siblings. Witnesses testified to CSG's good relationship with their father. She would sit on his lap, laugh and joke with him. They never saw her pull away from him. RP 1042-58, 1072-76, 1090, 846-47, 1063-65, 1082.

Through the years, the children occasionally fell asleep in their clothes. Their parents changed them into pajamas and put them to bed in shared bedrooms. RP 1019-23, 1055, 1112-18.

Sergey Gensitskiy testified he never abused or molested any of his children. He never touched his children's genitals while putting them to bed. RP 1098-1100, 1111-19.

3. PRIVACY ACT

5

In December, 2011, Diana called Randy to ask if CSG could go for coffee. Rather than let CSG go out, Randy invited Diana to their home. After the conversation, Randy's phone rang again. He found Diana inadvertently had redialed him. He overheard Diana talking with Yelena. RP 623-25. Defense counsel objected, citing the privacy statute. The court admitted the evidence. RP 625-29. Randy testified Diana told her mother she couldn't get CSG out of the house, she didn't think the Pattersons trusted her anymore; and Yelena said they needed to get CSG out of the house to "get her straightened out." RP 630, 1191-94.

E. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW OF ISSUES AND ARGUMENT

1. THE HOLDING THAT INTENTIONALLY LISTENING IN ON A PHONE CALL CLEARLY NOT INTENDED FOR THE LISTENER IS NOT AN "INTERCEPTION" OF A PRIVATE COMMUNICATION UNDER THE PRIVACY ACT CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S OPINIONS AND PRESENTS A SUBSTANTIAL ISSUE OF PUBLIC INTEREST THAT THIS COURT SHOULD DECIDE. RAP 13.4 (b) (1), (4)

[I]t shall be unlawful for any individual ... to intercept ... any:

(a) Private communication transmitted by telephone [or] ... by any device ... designed to ... transmit said communication regardless how such device is powered or actuated, without first obtaining the consent of all the participants in the communication;

(b) Private conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to ... transmit such conversation regardless how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.

RCW 9.73.030.

•

Any information obtained in violation of RCW 9.73.030 ... shall be inadmissible in any civil or criminal case in all courts of general or limited jurisdiction in this state

RCW 9.73.050.

•

The statute's purpose is to protect privacy and prevent dissemination of illegally obtained information. State v. Baird, 83 Wn. App. 477, 922 P.2d 157 (1996), review denied, 131 Wn.2d 1012 (1997). A defendant has standing to challenge the use of evidence obtained in violation of the act even if he did not participate in the unlawfully intercepted conversation. State v. Williams, 94 Wn.2d 531, 534, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980). A civilian violated the statute by listening on a police to his neighbor's cordless scanner telephone conversations; the conversations were inadmissible in court. State v. Faford, 128 Wn.2d 476, 910 P.2d 447 (1996). Α police officer unlawfully intercepted text communications when he looked through a suspect's iPhone, read text messages, and texted back posing as the suspect. All such communications were suppressed. State v. Roden, 179 Wn.2d 893, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014).

In State v. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d 186, 102 P.3d 789 (2004), this Court reversed a conviction when a witness testified to the defendant's phone

- 8 -

conversation with her daughter. The daughter and defendant did not intend for the mother to listen to their conversation on the phone's base unit.

1

Here the Court of Appeals held that Randy did not "intercept" the conversation under the meaning of this statute.

Christensen is distinguishable. In Christensen, the mother purposefully intercepted her daughter's telephone conversation with her boyfriend in order to assist police with a criminal investigation of the boyfriend. ... The mother intercepted the call by activating the speakerphone function at the base of the cordless phone.

Slip Op. at 13; Christensen, 153 Wn.2d at 190-91.

Although Randy Patterson did not initiate the phone call, he recognized that the call was not intended for him.⁴ He nonetheless listened on his phone, overheard the private conversation between Diana and her mother -- and then testified at trial to the private conversation he overheard. private listening in Intentionally on а conversation via a device is "interception" for purposes of the Privacy Statute. Testifying to the conversation violates RCW 9.73.050. "Evidence

⁴ He testified that Diana "butt-dialed" him. RP 623-25.

obtained in violation of the act is excluded for any purpose, including impeachment." *Faford*, 128 Wn.2d at 488.

1 1

[T]he Washington statute continues to tip the balance in favor of individual privacy at the expense of law enforcement's ability to obtain information in criminal proceedings.

State v. Kipp, 179 Wn.2d 718, 725, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014). Whether a conversation is private is determined as a matter of law. Here there is no issue the conversation between Diana and her mother was private.

This Court has pending before it another case addressing the Privacy Act: Whether stenographically transcribing a telephone conversation with only one party's consent is an interception within the Act.⁵ This case presents an equally important public issue of defining the Act's terms. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Here Randy Patterson realized he was listening to a conversation not intended for him, i.e., a private phone conversation, yet purposefully

⁵ Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC, 179 Wn. App. 41, 316 P.3d 1119 (2014), review granted, Supreme Court No. 89961-4 (oral argument 9/30/2014).

listened to it on his phone, and divulged it in trial testimony.

1. I.

The Court of Appeals holding that such eavesdropping by phone is not "interception" within the Privacy Act conflicts with this Court's decisions in Christensen, Faford, Roden, Williams, and presents an issue of substantial public interest and importance that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS HOLDING THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT COUNT 2 CONFLICTS WITH OPINIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS AND PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT ISSUE OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3).

Count 2 was based on CSG's testimony that Mr. Gensitskiy rubbed her upper inner thigh when he put her to bed before she was 7. Resp. Brief at 13-17. The jury was required to decide each count separately. CP 31.

In State v. Powell, 62 Wn. App. 914, 918, 816 P.2d 86 (1991), review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013 (1992), the Court of Appeals reversed a conviction of child molestation where a close family friend known as "Uncle Harry" touched a child's thighs while they were in a truck. It held there was insufficient evidence of a purpose of sexual gratification.

Proof that an unrelated adult with no caretaking function has touched the intimate parts of a child supports the inference the touching was for the purpose of sexual gratification. ... However, in those cases in which the evidence shows touching through clothing, or touching of intimate parts of the body other than the primary erogenous areas, the courts have required some additional evidence of sexual gratification.

Powell, 62 Wn. App. at 917 (citations omitted, emphasis added), quoted with approval in State v. Whisenhut, 96 Wn. App. 18, 23, 980 P.2d 232 (1999). The Powell court continued with an excellent contrast of cases in which there was sufficient evidence of sexual gratification:

E.g., State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 63, 794 P.2d 850 (1990) ("The defendant then rubbed the zipper area of the boy's pants for 5 to 10 minutes."); State v. Johnson, 96 Wn.2d 926, 639 P.2d 1332 (1982) (evidence an unrelated male with no caretaking function wiped a 5-year-old girl's genitals with a wash cloth might be insufficient to prove he acted for purposes of sexual gratification had that act not been followed by his having her perform fellatio on him); State v. Wilson, [56 Wn. App. 63, 68, 782 P.2d 224 (1989), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1010 (both incidents occurred where (1990)] they would not be easily observed, and defendant was only partially clothed; victim of second incident was disrobed); State v. Brown, 55 Wn. App. 738, 780 P.2d 880 (1989) (multiple incidents including one in which defendant had victim operate a "penis enlarger"), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1014 (1990); State v. Brooks, 45 Wn. App. 824, 727 P.2d 988 (1986) (whitish liquid found on infant's face, chest, and stomach; stain on infant's rubber booties identified as semen); In re Adams, 24 Wn. App. 517, 601 P.2d 995 (1979) (defendant removed victim's pants and was on top of her when discovered).

Powell, 62 Wn. App. at 917.6

',

In State v. R.P.,⁷ the defendant was convicted of indecent liberties for picking up a girl, hugging her, holding her against her will, and placing a "hickey" or "passion mark" on her neck area with his lips. This Court reversed and dismissed for insufficient evidence of contact with the "sexual or other intimate parts" under RCW 9A.44.010(2).

In the context of a parent of a small child putting many young children to bed over the years, testimony that on occasion the parent stroked the

⁶ See also: Whisenhut, 96 Wn. App. at 23-24 (an unrelated 15-year-old on three separate occasions reached behind his seat in the school bus and touched a 5-year-old girl's "genital area, a primary erogenous zone, under her skirt but over her body suit," the touching "was not open to innocent explanation").

⁷ 67 Wn. App. 663, 666-67, 838 P.2d 701 (1992), *reversed*, 122 Wn.2d 735, 862 P.2d 127 (1993) and at 736-37 (Andersen, J., dissenting).

inner thigh of a child is constitutionally insufficient to prove sexual contact -- either a purpose for sexual gratification or contact with the child's sexual or other intimate parts.⁸ If not, most parents in this State are equally guilty of child molestation and subject to life imprisonment. This Court should grant review of this issue and reverse and dismiss Count 2.

F. ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. RELEVANT FACTS

· •

On July 13, 2011, the State charged Count 7:

COUNT 07 - CHILD MOLESTATION IN THE SECOND DEGREE - 9A.44.086 ... between July 16, 1997 and July 15, 2003 ... did have sexual contact with D.S.G. dob 7/16/1989, who was less than fourteen (14) years old, and not married to the defendant and the defendant was at least thirty-six months older than the victim;

CP 3-4. The State rested its case on August 6, 2012. RP 821. The following day, the State proposed to amend Count 7 to charge child molestation 1° instead of 2°, and to expand the charging period back to 1994. RP 1069-71. The

- 14 -

⁸ <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560, 99 S. Ct. 2781 (1979); U.S. Const., amends. 5, 14; Const., art. I, § 3.

defense objected. RP 1122-26. After all parties rested, the Court granted the State's amendment. RP 1242. It now charged:

COUNT 07 - CHILD MOLESTATION IN THE SECOND DEGREE - 9A.44.083 ... between July 16, 1994 and July 15, 2001, ... did have sexual contact with D.S.G. (female), who was less than fourteen years old and not married to the defendant and the defendant was at least thirty-six months older than the victim; contrary to Revised Code of Washington 9A.44.083.

CP 15-16 (emphases added).⁹

.

- 1

The State's belated amendment of Count 7 charged a mishmash. It expanded the charging period by several years, it alleged child molestation in the second degree, cited the statute for child molestation in the first degree, cited dates when DSG was under 12 years old but alleged she was under age 14, and alleged an age difference required for second degree molestation.

⁹ Had the State amended Count 7 to child molestation 1° as it initially represented, RP 1069-71, the Court of Appeals would have reversed and dismissed for charging a different crime, as it did with Count 8. This Second Amended Information also expanded the charging periods for Counts 8-11 all by a number of years. *Compare*: CP 1-6, 7-12, and 13-18. The Court of Appeals held these late amendments to Counts 8-11 required reversal with prejudice. Slip Op. at 4-7. The State does not seek review of that holding.

Defense counsel objected to amending the charging period consistent with a charge of child molestation 1°. RP 1122-26. The trial court was so confused, it entered judgment on child molestation 1°.¹⁰ CP 102-03.

4

The State now asks this Court to endorse such charging practices. It should decline the request.

2. DIFFERENT DEGREES OF CHILD MOLESTATION ARE NOT LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES OF EACH OTHER.

The State argues the Court of Appeals

effectively held, for the first time in Washington, that child molestation in the second degree is not a lesser included offense of child molestation in the first degree, and that child molestation in the third degree is not a lesser included offense of child rape in the second degree.

Petition at 14. That holding is long the law.

Lesser included offenses and lesser degree offenses are subject to the Workman analysis.¹¹

¹⁰ The State conceded this error, Resp. Br. at 8-9. The Court of Appeals did not reach this issue because it vacated the conviction. If this Court reverses that holding, it will need to address this error. CP 93, 103.

¹¹ RCW 10.61.003; State v. Hahn, 174 Wn.2d 126, 129, 271 P.3d 892 (2012); State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Thus felony murder 2° is not included in premeditated murder 1°, although it is a lesser degree of murder. State v. Irizarry, 111 Wn.2d 591, 763 P.2d

The various degrees of child molestation fail both Workman's factual and legal prongs: by requiring different ages of the child, they require a different criminal act at a different time; and different age differences between the victim and the perpetrator.¹² Child molestation requires the element of sexual gratification, and so is not a lesser included crime of rape of a child.¹³

1 5

RCW 10.61.003 still requires "evidence that the defendant committed only the inferior offense."¹⁴ Here there was no evidence that "only" child molestation 2° occurred. The charging period and jury instructions required sexual contact before Diana's twelfth birthday. CP 15-16, 47.

¹³ State v. Jones, 71 W. App. 798, 863 P.2d 85 (1993), review denied, 124 Wn.2d 1018 (1994); State v. Saiz, 63 Wn. App. 1, 816 P.2d 92 (1991). Even attempted child molestation 2° is not a lesser of child molestation 2°. State v. Heidari, 174 Wn.2d 288, 294-95, 274 P.3d 366 (2012).

¹⁴ State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 524, 14 P.3d 713 (2000); State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

^{432 (1988).} Rape 3° is not a lesser included of rape 2°. State v. Ieremia, 78 Wn. App. 746, 899 P.2d 16 (1995), review denied, 128 Wn.2d 1009 (1996).

¹² Compare: RCW 9A.44.083 (24 months' difference), 9A.44.086 (36 months' difference), and 9A.44.089 (48 months' difference). Appendix C.

a. <u>The Charged Act Could Only Occur at</u> <u>One Specific Time.</u>

A person may only be charged and convicted for a particular criminal act.¹⁵ Lesser included offenses by definition mean one act is charged, the only issue is the severity of that act under the law. The right to a jury trial requires the jury to be unanimous as to what one act occurred.¹⁶

.

Unlike the value of a stolen item, the age of a child determines the time of the offense and so the very act that is the offense. Parties may quibble about the value of a stolen item without questioning the act of theft. If the state charges both first and second degree child molestation, it cannot be alleging the same act for both crimes. It is factually impossible to have committed both crimes in one act. The Legislature required this specificity by defining the elements.¹⁷

¹⁵ The Constitutions guarantee the right "to demand the nature and cause of the accusation." Const., art. I, §§ 3, 22; U.S. Const., amends. 6, 14.

¹⁶ State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984); Const., art. I, § 22; U.S. Const., amends. 6, 14.

¹⁷ RCW 9A.44.083, .086, .089.

b. <u>The State May Charge Crimes Without</u> <u>an Age Element if it Cannot Prove</u> <u>the Elements of Child Molestation.</u>

Inability to prove the elements of a specific crime often requires considering other crimes that do not require specific ages.¹⁸ A child may be unable to identify whether penetration occurred, but child molestation still is not a lesser included of child rape.¹⁹

', i,

c. <u>The State's Authorities Are</u> <u>Inapposite.</u>

In State v. Smith, 122 Wn. App. 294, 297-99, 93 P.3d 206 (2004), the Court affirmed because a challenged jury instruction (not charging document) was invited error. The dicta on which the State relies conflict with this Court's precedents.²⁰

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